017 4-7-92

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FILF, SID J. WHITE SID

BOBBY ROSS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LYNN A. WILLIAMS #195484 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Ross v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Petitioner was the appellant in the district court and the defendant in the Circuit Court, and will be referred to in this brief as petitioner or by name. Respondent was the appellee in the district court and the prosecutor in the circuit court, and will be referred to as respondent or as the state.

Petitioner will designate references to the record and the transcript by "R" and "T" respectively, followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

-1-

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by information with escape (R 7).

Petitioner filed a Motion to Transfer Case from Career Criminal Division. The trial judge agreed to incorporate into the record and accept as argument in petitioner's case the argument made on identical motions in other cases referred to as the "ROC motions". This argument was made a part of the record in petitioner's case (R 19-45). The motion was denied (T 7; R 55).

Appellant filed a Motion to Preclude Classification as Habitual Violent Felony Offender Pursuant to Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla. Stats., (1988) (R 47-52; R 56). This motion was denied (R 56).

The case proceeded to trial on December 14, 1989.

On August 17, 1989 petitioner was a prisoner on work release at Dinsmore Community Correctional Center in Duval County. In the morning, petitioner went uneventfully to his employment at Western Sizzlin in Jacksonville. He was taken to work by an inmate driver. Having inmates drive other inmates to and from work was a standard operating procedure in the work release program at the Community Correctional Center (T 31-35).

Officer James Ray of the correctional center checked petitioner out of the center on August 17. Ray reported back to work on August 18, 1989 at midnight (T 31). At that point, petitioner had not returned to the center and was listed as escaped (T 37).

-2-

Ray agreed that petitioner had actually been put on escape status at 10:19 p.m. Ray further stated that once the phone call is made to the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, "the wheels of progress have started." If Ross had returned to the center the next day, he would have been removed from the correctional center and taken to the Duval County Jail (T 38).

David Schwab, a patrolman with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, arrested petitioner on August 30, 1989 for escape from the correctional center. Schwab was directed by the dispatcher to proceed to a specific corner where the suspect would be located, wearing brown pants and a white T-shirt. Petitioner gave the officer the name of Willie Hill. Schwab patted down petitioner, and located a visitation log for Bobby Ross at Dinsmore Correctional Center. After obtaining a photograph of Bobby Ross and comparing it to petitioner, petitioner stated to Schwab that petitioner's real name was Bobby Ross (T 39-48).

The state rested its case-in-chief (T 50).

Petitioner moved for a directed judgment of acquittal which motion was denied (T 50).

Officer Paula Monroe was called as a defense witness. She received a call from petitioner on August 17, 1989 at approximately 6:38 in the evening. (64) Her business log reflected that the inmate van sent to pick up petitioner arrived at Western Sizzlin at 9:15 in the evening (T 64-65).

Petitioner testified that on August 17, 1989 he worked at Western Sizzlin. At six-thirty in the evening he called the Center for a van to pick him up. Normally, the van would

-3-

arrive at seven in the evening. After an hour, when the van did not arrive, petitioner called back to the center and asked again for a van to pick him up. The correctional officer told him to stand by. Petitioner tried again at nine in the evening to call the center, but the line was busy. He decided to find another way back. Petitioner took a bus to his home and tried to get his brother-in-law to give petitioner a ride to the center. However, after checking at his mother-in-law's home, he was unable to locate his brother-in-law. At that point, he was concerned because he had to return to the center by midnight. Petitioner then called his employer. His employer promised to give petitioner a ride back to the center, but never showed up.

Petitioner did not call the center the next day because he was scared.

He and his wife talked, and decided they could not live like this. He asked his wife to call the police and give them a clothing description and that he was going down Davis Street. Petitioner did this because he did not want the police around the house where his children were.

Petitioner was stopped by the police on Davis Street. He did give a false name at first because he was scared (T 70-75).

After the state rested and prior to the petitioner taking the stand, there was the following colloquy between the attorneys and the trial judge, outside the presence of the jury, concerning appellant's criminal record:

Mr. Radloff: Essentially, Judge, I have asked Mrs. Peek for copies of judgment and sentences with regards to how many convictions my client has had. She has indicated 20. And she has been telling us that she's been getting this information off the arrest and booking report. Through my experience, Your Honor, as an attorney the arrest and booking reports don't always match up with the judgment and sentences, sometimes there is an extra conviction on the arrest and booking report which doesn't show up on the judgment and sentence, and they're just not one hundred percent accurate. As I indicated in opening statement, Mr. Ross was going to take the stand. At this point, we have no idea how many convictions he has for sure, Your Honor. And all I ask of Mrs. Peek during this recess was to please provide me with any judgment and sentences that she has so I can show them to my client prior to him taking the stand. And I think I'm entitled to that, Your Honor.

The Court: And what was her response?

Mr. Radloff: She told me she was going to refresh his recollection off the arrest and booking report, Judge.

The Court: Don't you have the arrest and booking reports available?

Mr. Radloff: Yes, Judge, but as I told you those are not one hundred percent accurate. My client cannot give an accurate answer on the stand. I cannot fully prepare him for that question because Mrs. Peek either doesn't have them or may have them now but just is not going to provide them to me.

The Court: Well, of course the best -- I suppose that may be one way of finding out how many convictions he has. He is probably in the best position to know how many convictions he has, perhaps he's had so many that he's forgotten.

Mr. Radloff: Well, that's probably the case here, Judge.

The Court: Yes, Mrs. Peek, can you state how many to the defense how many convictions you think you have evidence of?

Mrs. Peek: Well, Judge, I think I've got 11 or 12 here, I need a moment to count them but as I explained to Mr. Radloff it's two different issues. Him refreshing his client's memory from his six out of state convictions is one issue and what I can prove up is another issue. And I thought I said, sir, take what I've got, try to refresh your client's memory before I do it. He's got from Chicago, Tennessee, Atlanta, and California.

Now, him telling his client to say 12 is not responsive to the question and that's perjury. And I told him I was concerned about that. I have -- I need to count them either 11 or 12 right here, plus I have the F.B.I. rap sheet that his client needs to refresh his memory from if he is having some trouble remembering all those encounters in these other jurisdictions, whether or not I will be able to prove it up is one thing but suborning perjury is another.

Mr. Radloff: That's absolutely ridiculous. First of all, I know this issue is going to come up so I think we maybe need to address it at this point since we are running into a problem with this. Mrs. Peek attempts to quote, unquote, refresh my client's recollection as to prior out of state convictions. Judge, she cannot do it from some F.B.I. rap sheet because my client has no knowledge whether or not those are actually adjudications of guilt or not. If there is a judgment and sentence, fine, yes, then we can say for sure, up to this point --

The Court: She just said she doesn't have those from other places, she said she can only prove up to 12, I think, here in the State of Florida. That's what she just said.

Mr. Radloff: Right, but I'm going to strenuously object to her trying to refresh my client's recollection as to other convictions when she has no proper evidence of those whether or not they are actually convictions and for what offenses.

The Court: She has a right to test his credibility insofar as she can ask the question were you in Los Angeles, California on November the 6th, 1983. In an effort to refresh his memory of that if that sparks some memory in him, then, fine, but without anything further, she can go into Philadelphia or any other place, such and such a date.

Mr. Radloff: Well, if she also intends to bring up the nature of the crime itself --

The Court: I don't know what she intends to do but she can't really do that because she has no evidence other than the booking report. I don't know what other evidence she has. She can certainly ask the question whether he was in those places on such and such a date. Whether or not that gives rise to perjury charge later on I don't know. I don't know what he is going to say and I don't know what evidence is going to come out. But he can say, yes, I was there. I was not there on that date. don't know what's going to happen since I don't know what the State has other than what she just said (T 56-60).

Just prior to the trial beginning, the prosecutor represented to the Court during a plea offer from petitioner that petitioner had "twenty prior felony convictions, five are out of state" (T 11).

On cross-examination of petitioner, the prosecutor impeached petitioner's credibility utilizing petitioner's prior "record". Petitioner objected to the manner in which the prosecutor was impeaching petitioner including that the prosecutor did not have in her possession copies of judgment and sentences in the cases she was impeaching petitioner with and her mention of specific crimes in her cross-examination. His

-7-

objection was overruled and his motion for mistrial denied (T 75-78).

Petitioner also objected on the basis that the documents being used to "refresh petitioner's memory" had not been provided to the petitioner. During cross-examination there was the following colloquy between the trial judge and counsel:

> Mr. Radloff: Judge, I would further object to Mrs. Peek's failure to provide me with the judgement and sentences prior to my client taking the stand. I would argue to the Court that it's a discovery violation. That we should be entitled to go over these things with my client prior to him taking the stand. Mrs. Peek refused to do that.

I would ask that you conduct a Richardson hearing with regards to that matter.

Mrs. Peek: Can I respond to that? I got that information out of the rap sheet that's been in this courtroom since the man got arraigned. And I'm not going to do this guy's job for him. I simply walked down to the clerk's office and said could i have these to look at. I don't know why Mr. Radloff couldn't do that.

The Court: That's where they came from?

Mrs. Peek: Yes sir, right downstairs one floor below us.

Mr. Radloff: They were never listed on discovery.

Mrs. Peek: They don't have to be.

Mr. Radloff: Never listed on discovery and she has used them here in Court, I have never been put on notice. In fact, I asked her, Judge, during the recess to provide me with copies and she absolutely refused to do that.

Mrs. Peek: I'm not about---

-8-

The Court: You say that you got these copies from the clerk's office downstairs, copy of judgement and sentence here in Duval County.

Mrs. Peek: Yes, sir, I got them from looking at the rap sheet that's been in this court every since this man appeared. It wasn't some big hidden mystery.

Mr. Radloff: It's the state's obligation to list on discovery all evidence that they intend to use during the course of the trial. Not only was this not listed but once I found out I immediately asked to have copies made and she refused to do that and I ask the Court conduct a Richardson Hearing.

The Court: I'll take your motion under advisement. Let's move along (T 83-84).

After the defense had rested, further proceedings were had on petitioner's Richardson objection. Petitioner also moved for a mistrial based on the prosecutor's impeachment of petitioner. The court considered the matters together as follows:

> Mr. Radloff: Judge, just that by the failure of the state to even have--even let me look at these judgement and sentences, we were lead to a situation where my client took the stand, as I already told the jury he would in opening statement, and also lead to the introduction of some of his-what some of his prior convictions were for, Judge, which is what I was trying to avoid in the first place.

The items were never listed on discovery, never. When I asked Mrs. Peek to just show me copies she said no, I am not going to do that, I am not required to do that and I am not going to do that.

And then prejudice, Judge, is that my client took the stand, I didn't have an opportunity to go over with him the judgement and sentences what are the only proper evidence of a conviction, Judge. As you well know, arrest and booking records are sometimes filled out wrong and they don't have the--either the exact crime for which he's been convicted, perhaps it may have been lesser, may have been a misdemeanor, perhaps wasn't the exact amount of counts on the report or on FBI rap sheet.

And this lead to a situation now where the jury not only knows that my client has felony convictions, which obviously they are entitled to and which Mrs. Peek is entitled to bring up during cross examination, but now they know some of the the-what some of the convictions were for, Judge.

And this all could have been avoided if Mrs. Peek would have properly disclosed these items to me but they were not.

Mrs. Peek: Judge, if I may briefly respond.

Mr. Radloff: And your honor, I would move for mistrial due to the nature of procedure in which Mrs. Peek tried to refresh my client's recollection which lead to the disclosure to the jury of the nature of crimes for which he was convicted, move for mistrial.

The Court: I instructed the jury on that one.

Mrs. Peek: If I may briefly respond. A witness' memory may be refreshed in any manner, shape, or form. I think that's pretty basic evidence out of law school but I guess the compelling question is why Mr. Radloff didn't do what I did and simply walk from about four steps from which he is sitting and look at the man's rap sheet which I advised him to do before his client I told him I would be took the stand. happy to go over the rap sheet with him and count out his 20 prior felony convictions, I never expected a defendant to take the stand and lie. That certainly wasn't planned by me that I am going to have to put in all these judgement and sentences, but like I said, the compelling question is why the defense attorney, I see two sitting there, one of them couldn't do what I did, look at the rap sheet, consult with their defendant and go down to the clerk's office if they thought there was any error in the rap sheet.

The Court: All right. I deny the motion for mistrial, I deny the motion for Richardson hearing.

What I have is that I don't know in this case if State could have anticipated the defendant, one, was going to take the stand, and two, whether he was going to say he didn't know how many times he had been convicted and would not make an estimate of the number of times that he had been convicted of felonies.

She went to the clerk's office, she got certified copies of judgement and sentences which could have been done by defense counsel should there be any question knowing you were going to put him on the stand.

She read the rap sheet from which is here in Court available to both State and defense, certainly just as available to one as to the other.

I don't feel as though she's violated the discovery rules and I don't think Richardson hearing is necessary. And I--that's it. For those reasons I deny the motion for mistrial. Deny the motion for Richardson hearing (T 91-95).

Petitioner's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal, brought after the defense rested, was denied (T 91).

The prosecutor then announced her intention to introduce as rebuttal evidence "all his prior judgment and sentences that he can't remember" (T 102).

Petitioner then renewed his discovery violation objection based on the prosecutor's announced intent to introduce into evidence judgment and sentences which had not been disclosed to the defense. Petitioner further pointed out that as the prosecutor had not had the documents she put in front of petitioner on the stand marked for identification, there was no way to tell which ones he had acknowledged and which ones he had not.

-11-

When asked by the trial judge, "Mrs. Peek, can you tell him which ones? I don't recall which ones were verified that he admitted he had convictions of?", the prosecutor replied, "Judge, I don't think he really recalled very many of them, no, I don't know. I've got 11 to put in. That's the point, he's got 11 on convictions and not the seven or eight that he grudgingly sort of admitted" (T 103).

Petitioner moved for mistrial noting that the prosecutor should only be able to introduce into evidence those documents which represented convictions that petitioner said he did not remember and that letting in all the convictions would impermissible identify all the crimes. The court noted that at least one part of that argument was correct (T 104).

The prosecutor then proposed not having the actual judgment and sentences introduced into evidence but having the fingerprint expert testify that petitioner's prints matched those on 11 prior felony convictions. The defense stated, "that's fine" (T 105).

Susan Bowles testified as a state rebuttal witness. Bowles testified that she had compared petitioner's prints with eleven felony judgment and sentences and verified that the judgment and sentences were petitioner's (T 106-107).

From the prosecutor's previous statements it is apparent that the eleven certified copies of convictions that Bowles testified to were all from Duval County, Florida (T 83-84).

The state rested (T 107).

-12-

Petitioner renewed all previous motions for judgment of acquittal and for mistrial. The renewed motions were denied (T 108).

The case was submitted to the jury who returned a verdict of guilty as charged (R 62).

Petitioner moved for a new trial (R 63-64). In addition to the written grounds, petitioner orally amended the motion to add as a ground that the trial court erred in failing to exclude evidence of prior convictions and further in not granting a mistrial after the reference to prior convictions (T 137-139).

During argument, the prosecutor stated:

Judge, we clearly -- I tried to help Mr. Valladeres as much as I possibly could by giving him the rap sheet and I even circled the number -- the defendant's number of prior felony convictions. I don't know what more I could have done to help him and his defendant refresh the defendant's memory about his number of prior felony convictions (T 139).

The trial court denied the motion for new trial (T 139-140; R 65).

At sentencing, the state introduced into evidence a prior conviction of petitioner for two counts of aggravated assault (T 147; R 93-99). The state further asked the court to take judicial notice of eight other Duval County cases containing nine felony convictions (T 149; R 99-140). This totalled eleven certified copies of convictions, all from Duval County, Florida. The state further presented to the court out of state self-authenticated conviction documents from Tennessee and Atlanta, Georgia (T 149-150).

Petitioner notes that the authenticated documents reflect the following: In Tennessee, petitioner was previously convicted of Attempt to Commit a Felony and Grand Larceny (R 67-74). In Georgia, petitioner was convicted of driving while license suspended, driving under the influence, robbery, and twice of "theft by taking" (R 79-92).

Notably, the copies of the Georgia records are accompanied by a letter from the Georgia Department of Corrections indicating that the documents were mailed to the prosecutor on January 5, 1990 (R 79). The Tennessee documents were apparently mailed to the prosecutor on December 22, 1989 (R 67). The trial in petitioner's case was held on December 14, 1989.

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