017 DA 4.7.92 SID J. WHITE JAN 15 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BOBBY ROSS,

Petitioner,

Case No. 78,179

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, BUREAU CHIEF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Preservation of the "Jurisdictional" Issue

Petitioner did not attack the constitutionality of the habitual violent felon statute -- facially or as applied -before the trial court. Instead, he raised it for the first time before the First District. Controlling case law holds that the constitutionality of statutes, as here, does not rise to fundamental error. Therefore, Appellant waived this issue.

The State did not raise the preservation issue in the First District. However, the Petitioner's failure to preserve the issue at trial has jurisdictional aspects. Jurisdiction cannot be conferred by waiver. At the least, Petitioner's waiver before the trial court strongly weighs against review on the merits.

ISSUE II: Constitutionality of the Habitual Felon Statute

Petitioner, who was sentenced as an habitual <u>violent</u> felon, does not have standing to attack the constitutionality of the entire statute. The lower court's "validation" of the entire statute is *dicta* as to the statute's treatment of felons who are habitual, but not violent.

- 3 -

The classification or definition of an habitual <u>violent</u> felon, and the enhanced sentences for such felons, are reasonably related to the unassailable goal of better protecting society from recidivists who commit felonies, including violent felonies. All felons found to be habitual and violent are treated alike. All provisions of the statute applicable to Petitioner are clear and capable of being understood by persons of reasonable intelligence.

Petitioner's last point expresses no more than his personal disagreement with the statutory definition of an habitual, violent felony offender. To claim an enhanced sentence is unreasonable for a defendant such as Petitioner -- who has committed violent felonies in the past and defied incarceration by his present offense of escape -- is misguided at best. Such claim does not rise to constitutional significance.

ISSUE III: Use of Petitioner's Rap Sheet

Review of this issue on the merits would be improvident, as it is completely unrelated to the ground upon which jurisdiction was accepted. More important, the First District summarily rejected Petitioner's argument as without merit. In essence, this Court would be reviewing a PCA decision on this issue.

- 4 -

The trial court could not abuse its discretion by allowing the prosecution to refresh Petitioner's memory with his rap sheet. Any document may be used to refresh a witness' recollection. Any error was harmless, as Petitioner's credibility had already been severely damaged by the jury's knowledge of his status as an incarcerated convict and his admitted lie to police about his identity.

ISSUE IV: Richardson Hearing Denial

For the reasons stated in Issue III, the Court should decline review of this issue on the merits. Nevertheless, the trial court did not err by denying a <u>Richardson</u> hearing in response to the State's failure to provide defense counsel with Petitioner's rap sheet. This information was equally available to Petitioner at all times. Further, the prosecutor offered to review the information with the defense once it became clear Petitioner would testify.

ISSUE V: Propriety of Career Criminal Division

Review of this issue on the merits should be declined for the reasons stated in Issue III. Petitioner does not have standing to challenge the administrative structure of the trial court. If he has standing, Petitioner cannot show prejudice. Since no harm resulted from any error, the outcome of this issue will have no effect on this case after disposition of the jurisdictional issue.

The career criminal division was established pursuant to general law, as provided in the state constitution. It did not alter or diminish the jurisdiction or authority of any circuit judge. Petitioner's argument is totally without merit.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A SENTENCING STATUTE MAY BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

Petitioner has characterized his attack upon the habitual violent felon statute as facial. (initial brief, p. 20) In so doing, he tacitly admits the obvious: trial counsel¹ did not challenge the constitutionality of the statute.

¹ The trial court noted Petitioner's prior record, which includes at least 18 felonies in nine states; and at least 21 misdemeanors. (T 153-4). Three of the past felonies were for aggravated assaults committed in Florida. (R 7, 134-8; T 140, 149). No reasonable trial counsel, as a matter of strategy, would risk credibility by challenging the statute under these This possibility is re-enforced by defense counsel's facts. express lack of objection to the PSI report in substance. (T) Ironically, this entire appeal could be grounded on no 140-2). more than a deliberate tactical decision by Petitioner's trial counsel.

The State acknowledges that it did not raise the preservation issue in the First District. See State v. Wells, 539 So.2d 464, 468 n. 4 (Fla. 1989)(state waived issue of defendant's standing to assert privacy interest in luggage found in car trunk and later searched, when defendant's standing was not raised at trial or on appeal), affirmed, 109 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990).

However, Petitioner's waiver through lack of preservation at trial has jurisdictional implications. In Davis v. State, 383 So.2d 620, 622 (Fla. 1980), this Court held that a defendant who pled nolo without reservation of the constitutionality of a controlling statute was "clearly wrong in his effort to activate the [court's] jurisdiction." [e.s.] Therefore, the Petitioner here is equally wrong in activating this Court's jurisdiction through an issue not raised before the trial court. Any waiver by the State is immaterial, as subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred on the court by waiver or the parties' failure to object. Florida Nat'l Bank of Jacksonville v. Kassewitz, 25 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1946) (jurisdiction cannot be infused in the court through error or inadvertence by the parties). See Thomas v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2320, 2324 (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 30, 1991)(Miner, J., dissenting)("Since the absence of a contemporaneous objection renders the appellate court unable to address the alleged error, I believe it totally irrelevant whether or not the state raises the absence of a defense objection below in its answer brief.").

- 7 -

It is a settled rule of appellate review that "[e]xcept in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it was presented to the lower court. [cites omitted]." <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

The meaning of "fundamental error" has been frequently addressed by this Court and the district courts. In Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970), the district court held that a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute was cognizable on appeal as fundamental error even though the constitutionality of the statute had not been raised and preserved in the trial court. This Court rejected the proposition that constitutionality of the statute was fundamental and could be raised for the first time on appeal. The Court made points which deserve attention. First, two general "'[f]undamental error,' which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action." Id. Second, an "Appellate Court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very quardedly." Id.

<u>Sanford</u> was a civil case. The same doctrine is applied to criminal cases. In <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701, 704 (Fla.

- 8 -

1978), in the context of jury reinstruction, the Court reaffirmed the rule that contemporaneous objections were required and rejected the argument that the error was fundamental, reiterating that the doctrine of fundamental error must remain a "limited exception." *Id.* The Court also reaffirmed that the error must be so fundamental as to "amount to a denial of due process. <u>State</u> v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970)." *Id.*, fn. 7.

This Court has consistently limited the scope of fundamental error. See <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978)("we have consistently held that even constitutional errors, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived unless timely raised in the trial court. Sanford.").

This Court was even more emphatic in <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981):

> [F]or error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly raised below, the error must amount to a denial of due process. *Castor*.

> > * * * *

We agree with Judge Hubbart's observation that the doctrine of fundamental error should be in the where applied only rare cases а jurisdictional where error appears or the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application. Porter v. State, 356 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 3d DCA)(Hubbart, J., dissenting),

remanded, 364 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1978), rev'd on remand, 376 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). Id.²

The cases holding and applying the above principles are legion. Representative cases include: Ellis v. State, 74 Fla. 215, 76 So. 698 (1917)("[I]t is suggested that the statute is This question was not raised in the trial unconstitutional. court, and, as the statute is not patently in conflict with organic law" will not be considered here); Silver v. State, 188 So.2d 300, 301 (Fla. 1966)(court strongly criticizes and refuses to condone decision of district court to indulgently address constitutionality of statute where constitutionality not raised Whitted v. State, 362 So.2d 668, 672 (Fla. in trial court); 1978)(failure of defendant to raise constitutionality of statutory provision under which convicted precludes appellate review); and Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755, 757 (Fla. 1984)(issue of constitutionality of statutory authority to override jury

In Porter, the issue was whether an unobjected to comment on a defendant's exercise of his right to silence was fundamental The district court, J. Hubbart dissenting, originally error. held that it was but reversed itself after remand for reconsideration in light of Clark. The point for this Court to recognize is that the right to silence is unquestionably a fundamental constitutional right in the English language sense of "fundamental," but, in the context of an unobjected to error, "fundamental error" is a legal term-of-art of exceptionally narrow scope. See cases above and below. This Court should reject the ubiquitous tendency of contemporary defense lawyers to debase the legal, and English, language by seeing "fundamental error" everywhere.

recommendation in death penalty case not cognizable for first time on appeal).

Davis v. State, 383 So.2d 620, 622 (Fla. 1980), is particularly instructive. It involved a nolo plea which purported to reserve the right to appeal the denial of motions to dismiss. On appeal, Davis challenged the constitutionality of the statute under which he was convicted. This Court, relying on <u>Silver</u>, held there was no jurisdiction to consider the challenge:

> In the case sub judice the defendant entered a plea of nolo contendere and did not reserve the right to raise the constitutional question on appeal. The statute was not attacked at the trial level. Defendant has exercised his right to one appeal. If he had desired to appeal to this Court, he only had to raise а constitutional question before the trial court and, in event of an unfavorable ruling, could have appealed directly to this Court. Not having followed this course, he is clearly wrong in his effort to activate the jurisdiction of this Court.

> For the reason stated, jurisdiction is declined and the judgement of the circuit court is not disturbed.

Id. See the rule of <u>Brown v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 382, 385 (Fla. 1979), that the reserved issue must be totally dispositive and that <u>the constitutionality of a controlling statute is an</u> <u>appropriate issue for reservation</u>; that is, must be reserved. See also <u>State v. McInnes</u>, 133 So.2d 581, 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961)("It is fundamental that the constitutionality of a statute

may not generally be considered on appeal unless the issue was raised and directly passed upon by the trial court."); <u>Randi v.</u> <u>State</u>, 182 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966)(constitutionality of statute may not be raised for the first time on appeal).

It might be suggested that the above holdings apply only to the constitutionality of statutes under which convicted and not to statutes under which sentenced. Such suggestion would be completely illogical because it could not show how all sentencing issues are fundamental while guilt issues are not. In any event, the same rule is applicable to sentencing statutes. See <u>Gillman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 586, 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977)(constitutionality of sentencing statute not cognizable when raised for first time on appeal). See also <u>Knight v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)(*ex post facto* and equal protection challenges to sentencing statutes not cognizable when raised for first time on appeal).

Applying the above law to the case at hand, it is uncontroverted that Petitioner did not raise, or otherwise preserve, the issue of whether the habitual, violent felon statute is constitutional. Pursuant to the case law above, the issue is whether the definition of "habitual violent felony offender" is fundamental, as to violate due process and to justify consideration of the issue although not raised below.

- 12 -

Given the great latitude and deference accorded the Legislature in defining statutory terms, the answer leaps out at the reader. That answer is "NO."

By failing to raise the jurisdictional issue before the trial court, Petitioner waived it. The State's failure to argue preservation before the First District, although embarrassing in hindsight, does not vitiate Petitioner's initial failure. Moreover, jurisdiction cannot be established through waiver. Since this Court accepted jurisdiction based on a non-preserved issue, this appeal must be dismissed outright.

If not dismissed, this Court should decline consideration on the merits. The State requests such; and strongly urges this Court to issue an opinion declaring that non-preserved, nonfundamental errors can not be the basis for appellate review.

ISSUE II

WHETHER IT IS REASONABLE TO PUNISH A REPEAT FELON, WHOSE CRIMINAL RECORD INCLUDES A VIOLENT OFFENSE, MORE HARSHLY THAN A NONVIOLENT REPEAT FELON

A. Introduction

Although the issue was not preserved at trial, and the case should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, the state will nevertheless address Petitioner's argument on the merits. Petitioner's criminal record includes at least four violent felonies: three instances of aggravated assault (R 93, 134), and unarmed robbery as a plea to a lesser included offense. (R 106). Based on his PSI report, the trial court noted "at least 18 felonies." (T 153). Defying incarceration, he escaped while on work release and was apprehended about thirteen days later. (T 30-1, 40-2). Incredibly, he now claims unconstitutionality of a statute that is operating quite reasonably against a proven recidivist.

Petitioner's claim rings hollow. Having demonstrated his strong propensity to commit both violent and nonviolent felonies, and having refused to abide by the strictures of work release; Petitioner cannot complain simply because he received commensurate imprisonment.³ However, the statute is absolutely constitutional, on its face, even if Petitioner had only the minimum required convictions.

Three attacks are lodged against the habitual <u>violent</u> felony offender statute:⁴ (1) that equal protection is not

As pronounced, Petitioner was sentenced to 30 years with a ten year minimum. (T 155). His sentence form shows the 30-year maximum, but not the 10-year minimum. (R 147-8). If Petitioner's sentence is upheld, the State requests remand for this purpose.

⁴ Once (initial brief, p. 22), Petitioner alludes to the entire "habitual offender statute." The State will limit its response to specific attacks upon the violent habitual felon provisions;

afforded by the classification of a defendant as an habitual violent felon; (2) denial of due process by not requiring a felon's current offense to be violent in order to be so classified; and (3) vagueness, through alleged imprecision in the statute as to who initiates the process, etc. (*See* Petitioner's initial brief, p. 20). For clarity, the State will answer each claim separately.

B. Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process

This Court has long held . . . that where a sentence is one that has been established by the legislature and is not on its face cruel and unusual, it will be sustained when attacked on grounds of due process, equal protection, or separation of power theories.

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